

Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot Neath Port Talbot Council

Replacement Local Development Plan 2023 - 2038

Viability Guidance Notes (November 2023)

Contents

1. lı	ntroduction	2
1.1	. Introduction	2
1.2	2. Document Purpose	
1.3	B. Document Structure	
2. N	National Planning Policy and Guidance	5
2.1	. National Planning Policy	5
2.2	2. National Planning Guidance	6
3. C	Council's Approach to Viability	
4. A	Assumptions	15
4.1	. Housing Market Areas	
4.2	2. Dwelling Sizes	
4.3	B. Dwelling Mix and Types	
4.4	 Affordable Housing – Requirements 	
4.5	5. Funding Streams	
4.6	6. House Prices	
4.7	7. Net Developable Area	
4.8	B. Density	
4.9	9. Basic Build/ Plot Costs	
4.1	0. Additional Build Costs	
4.1	1. Normal External Site Costs	
4.1	2. Opening Up Costs	
4.1	3. Abnormal Costs	
4.1	4. SuDS	
4.1	5. Profit	
4.1	6. Interest	
4.1	7. Contingency	
4.1	8. s.106 Costs (Excl. Affordable Housing)	
4.1	9. Professional Fees	
4.2	20. Land Cost Fees	
4.2	21. Sales and Marketing Fees	
4.2	2. Land Value Benchmarks	
4.2	23. Development Period, Build Period and Sales Start	
5. C	Development Viability Model (DVM)	
5.1	. Background	
5.2	2. Getting Started	

1. Introduction

1.1. Introduction

- 1.1.1. As outlined in the Council's Candidate Sites Assessment Methodology and Guidance Note, NPT adopted its current LDP in January 2016. The LDP sets out the Council's vision and objectives, together with a series of policies and proposals which together sets the framework for the development and use of land in the County Borough up to the end of 2026.
- 1.1.2. In accordance with Section 69 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Regulation 41 of the Town and Country Planning (LDP) Regulations 2005 as amended in 2015, in January 2020, given that four years had passed since the adoption of the LDP, NPTC commenced a review of its LDP. Following public consultation January-March 2020, the LDP Review Report¹ was approved for publication in July 2020.
- 1.1.3. Following approval of the Delivery Agreement (DA) for the Replacement LDP (RLDP) by Council in December 2021, and subsequent agreement by Welsh Government (WG) in January 2022, the Council began preparing its RLDP. In line with the DA, a Call for Sites (CfS) was held between 1st March 2022 to 31st May 2022. In total, 229 Candidate Sites (CS) were submitted.
- 1.1.4. Preliminary findings from the CfS, alongside information obtained from the Council's Annual Monitoring Reports (AMRs) and growth projections, indicated that there was a requirement for additional housing and to be identified in addition to existing infrastructure and viability matters that required additional time to overcome.
- 1.1.5. Given this, the Council decided to stop the preparation of the RLDP and start again. The Council approved a new DA in October 2023

¹ Available at: <u>https://www.npt.gov.uk/29464</u>

which was subsequently approved by the WG. The new DA outlines the timeframes for the preparation of the new RLDP which will cover the plan period of 2023-2038, starting with a CfS in November 2023.

1.1.6. Sites which were previously promoted as part of the 2022 CfS do not need to be re-submitted as part of this Call, however, additional viability information can be provided where relevant.

1.2. Document Purpose

- 1.2.1. National Planning Policy (Planning Policy Wales (PPW, Edition 11 2021) and National Planning Guidance (Development Plans Manual (DPM), Edition 3, 2021) require the Council as part of the preparation of the RLDP, to prepare:
 - High level viability assessment; and
 - Site-specific assessments.
- 1.2.2. To inform these pieces of work a series of Viability Topic Working Groups (TWGs)/ steering group meetings were held over 2021 and 2022. The outcome of these meetings is a series of assumptions which have been broadly agreed for the high-level work and which should be taken into consideration as part of the site-specific work. These are detailed in Chapter 4 of this Document.
- 1.2.3. As part of the Call for Candidate Sites, the Council requires site promoters to provide:
- 1.2.4. Residential and employment-led sites of 50 or more houses or 1.0ha+ are required to submit a high-level viability appraisal using the Mid and South West Wales Development Viability Model (DVM) and an accompanying high level viability statement as part of the CfS.. Site promoters should include the assumptions detailed within this Document, or provide supporting evidence to justify alternative values. Residential and employment sites below the thresholds above will be required to complete a viability questionnaire available

on the Council's website (www/npt.gov.uk/cs) and in deposit venues as part of the CfS. As part of the questionnaire, site promoters will have to consider whether the assumptions within this Document are appropriate for the type and scale of development envisaged, and provide supporting evidence to support alternative values. Further information including a completed DVM and High Level Viability Statement will be required later in the process as part of the Stage 2: Candidate Site Assessment.

- 1.2.5. Sites being promoted for other uses, should provide a proportionate amount of viability evidence as part of the CfS, taking into consideration the assumptions detailed within this Document. A detailed viability appraisal will be required later in the assessment process.
- 1.2.6. This Document provides guidance on what type of viability information is required to be submitted as part of the CfS and how it should be submitted. It should be read alongside the Council's Candidate Sites Assessment Methodology and Guidance Note.

1.3. Document Structure

- 1.3.1. Chapter 2: Provides a general overview of national planning policy and guidance.
- 1.3.2. Chapter 3: Details the Council's approach to viability.
- 1.3.3. Chapter 4: Details the high level viability assumptions
- 1.3.4. Chapter 5: Provides guidance in relation to the completion of the DVM

2. National Planning Policy and Guidance

2.0.1. This Chapter provides background information, including national and local planning policy and guidance.

2.1. National Planning Policy

- 2.1.1. Since the adoption of the current NPT LDP in 2016, national planning policy (Planning Policy Wales (PPW)) has been updated with regards to viability.
- 2.1.2. National Planning Policy (PPW, Edition 11, 2021) outlines the following approach with regards to viability.
- 2.1.3. Paragraph 4.2.19 states that as part of demonstrating the deliverability of housing sites, financial viability must be assessed prior to their inclusion as allocations in a development plan. At the 'Candidate Site' stage of development plan preparation landowners/ developers must carry out an initial site viability assessment and provide evidence to demonstrate the financial deliverability of their sites. At the 'Deposit' stage, there must be a high level plan-wide viability appraisal undertaken to give certainty that the development plan and its policies can be delivered in principle, taking into account affordable housing targets, infrastructure and other policy requirements. In addition, for sites which are key to the delivery of the plan's strategy a site specific viability appraisal must be undertaken through the consideration of more detailed costs, constraints and specific requirements. Planning authorities must consider how they will define a 'key site' at an early stage in the plan-making process. Planning authorities must also consider whether specific interventions from the public and/or private sector, such as regeneration strategies or funding, will be required to help deliver the housing supply.
- 2.1.4. Paragraph 4.2.20 says that where new housing is to be proposed, development plans must include policies to make clear that developers will be expected to provide community benefits which are reasonably related in scale and location of the development. In doing so, such policies should also take account of the economic viability of sites and ensure that the provision

of community benefits would not be unrealistic or unreasonably impact on a site's delivery.

2.1.5. Paragraph 4.2.21 further says that where up-to-date development plan policies have set out the community benefits expected from development, planning applications which comply with them should be assumed to be viable and it should not be necessary for viability issues to be considered further. It is for either the applicant or the planning authority to demonstrate that particular exceptional circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision-maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the development plan and the viability evidence underpinning it are up-to-date, and any change in circumstances since the plan was adopted. Such circumstances could include, for example, where further information on infrastructure or site costs is required or where a recession or similar significant economic changes have occurred since the plan was adopted. Where negotiation is necessary, the planning authority and developer should operate in an open and transparent manner with all information provided on an 'open-book' basis.

2.2. National Planning Guidance

- 2.2.1. Since the adoption of the current NPT LDP in 2016, national planning guidance has also been updated. National planning guidance contained in the Development Plans Manual (DPM) (Edition 3, 2020) provides guidance with regards to the preparation of LDPs.
- 2.2.2. Paragraph 3.10 says that plans should deliver what is intended through deliverable and viable plans, taking into account necessary infrastructure requirements including financial viability and other market factors. Paragraph 3.12 says that policies should set out any relevant mitigation/ compensation requirements, based on viability assessments/ legislation parameters.
- 2.2.3. The DPM (pp. 138) defines viability as follows:

"Development can be considered viable if, after taking account of all known costs including: Government policy/ regulations, all construction and infrastructure costs, the cost of and availability of finance, other costs such as fees and a contingency sum, the value of the development will generate a surplus sufficient to provide both an adequate profit margin for the developer and a land value sufficient to encourage a land owner to sell for the proposed use. Development can also be made viable through the availability of Government grants".

- 2.2.4. With regards to Candidate Sites, the DPM (Paragraph 3.36) is clear that local planning authorities must use the candidate site process to gather suitable evidence from site promoters to robustly demonstrate the financial viability of sites. Paragraph 3.50 says that in order for a site promoter to provide sufficient evidence necessary to demonstrate delivery and viability issues have been addressed at the candidate site stage, the local planning authority should publish a range of information to assist this process. This should be based around the following:
 - Making available the adopted LDP affordable housing policies (where fit for purpose) including specific policies, area based or ranges;
 - Where adopted plan policies are outdated, or have been superseded by changing circumstances, the local planning authority should indicate what alternative levels of affordable housing have been sought. Recent site negotiations over the previous 12 to 18 months can provide a more up-to-date evidence base;
 - Average s.106 costs (specific, area or ranges) based upon up-to-date actual s.106 negotiations over the previous 12 to 18 months;
 - Other policy requirements anticipated to have a financial cost implication;

- Any relevant and up-to-date SPG;
- Current or updated/ emerging infrastructure plan/ Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) requirements; and
- Core assumptions used in any current or updated technical information/ study i.e. benchmark land values, development profile and other relevant and up-to-date core assumptions.
- 2.2.5. For sites key to delivering the plan, Paragraphs 3.52 and 5.89 state that sitespecific viability appraisal should be undertaken and that this should be informed by the high-level viability appraisal. Paragraph 5.86 details the following hierarchy of viability for the preparation of LDPs:



2.2.6. Paragraphs 5.88 and 5.90 provide further guidance with regards to the highlevel viability appraisal, noting that local planning authorities must undertake a high level viability appraisal to assess the broad levels of development viability at housing market areas (See Figure 3.1). High level viability testing is generally based on a methodology that produces a residual land value (after allowing for a percentage profit margin for the developer) which is then compared with the benchmark land value (or values) for a geographical area.

- 2.2.7. Paragraph 5.89 provides further guidance with regards to site-specific viability appraisals. It states that site-specific viability appraisals should be undertaken for those sites which are key to delivering the plan. An appraisal will enable more detailed information to be taken into account having regard to the site specific details. The preferred approach is for this to be done in conjunction with a site promoter who has access to the detail, or conversely through more detailed modelling with site specific assumptions. Much more insight can be gained which can result in refined affordable housing targets, as opposed to the broader area identified in the high level appraisal.
- 2.2.8. With regards to the specifics of the viability appraisals, national planning guidance (DPM, Paragraph 5.92) states that the Manual does not specify a set model for undertaking viability appraisals, but notes that the following key components need to be addressed and expressed clearly in the Plan's evidence base, with a clear articulation of how the conclusions of the viability work has informed plan policies and allocations to demonstrate they can be achieved:
 - Development mix (density and house types);
 - House prices;
 - Contingency;
 - Fees;
 - Build costs;
 - Development profit;
 - Landowner expectations/ land value benchmark;

- Abnormal costs (where relevant);
- Notional/ actual sites;
- Cumulative impacts of plan policies (s.106 obligations/ CIL);
- Affordable housing percentage and tenure split (intermediate, social rented); and
- ACG bands.
- 2.2.9. Further guidance in relation to high level and site specific viability appraisals is provided within Chapter 5 of the DPM.
- 2.2.10. With regards to the submission of information, the DPM states at Paragraph 5.102 that it is recognised that the level of information provided may be variable and dependent on where the site is in the development management process and the willingness of the landowner/ developer to engage. it is imperative that as much information as possible is provided by all relevant parties to ensure sites can be delivered and included in the development plan. Where it has not been possible to obtain the necessary information it may be appropriate to exclude them.
- 2.2.11. The DPM is clear in Paragraphs 5.95, 5.96 and 5.102 that an 'open book' approach should be applied wherever and whenever possible. They note that transparency of evidence is essential to ensure a realistic understanding of the costs and value of development in the local area. Whilst it is recognised that some information necessary to demonstrate viability may be commercially sensitive, however, this is not a sufficient reason to avoid providing the appropriate evidence. The local planning authority can discuss with the development industry how the evidence can be presented in a format that informs the process but retains commercial sensitivity, for example aggregated figures, rather than a more detailed cost breakdown, could be used.
- 2.2.12. The DPM states at Paragraph 5.103 that it is important that the methodology for undertaking site appraisals is clearly set out and applied consistently. To

achieve the greatest degree of consensus in the preparation of viability work, Paragraph 5.94 says that a Viability Steering Group should be informed to agree specific costs for all components.

3. Council's Approach to Viability

- 3.1. This Chapter outlines the Council's approach to viability work.
- 3.2. In line with national planning policy and guidance, as part of the preparation of the RLDP, the Council needs to prepare:
 - High-level viability assessment: to assess the broad levels of development viability at housing market areas
 - Site-specific viability assessment. To enable more detailed information to be taken into account having regard to the site specific details.
- 3.3. In order to formulate high-level viability assumptions, the Council formed a Viability TWG/ steering group with landowners, developers, surveyors, and estate agents and held a series of meetings over 2022 and 2023. Following these meetings a set of assumptions (detailed in the following chapter) were broadly agreed for high-level viability work.
- 3.4. Following this, site promoters of sites promoted in the March-May 2022 CfS were asked to submit detailed viability appraisals as part of the Stage 2 detailed viability information request, using these broad assumptions, or providing evidence to justify alternative values.
- 3.5. As part of this subsequent CfS, sites submitted as part of the previous CfS will not need to be re-promoted and the viability information will not need to be updated.
- 3.6. Sites being promoted as part of this CfS will however have to provide the following viability information:
 - As part of this CfS, residential and employment-led sites of 50 or more houses or 1.0ha+ are required to submit a high-level viability appraisal using the Mid and South West Wales Development Viability Model (DVM) and an accompanying high level viability statement.
 - Residential and employment sites below the thresholds above will be

required to complete a viability questionnaire available on the Council's website (www/npt.gov.uk/cs) and in deposit venues. Further information including a completed DVM and High Level Viability Statement will be required later in the process as part of the Stage 2: Candidate Site Assessment (see viability guidance notes for further information).

- Sites being promoted for other uses, should provide a proportionate amount of viability evidence. A detailed viability appraisal will be required later in the assessment process.
- The fees for the DVM are set out below:
 - Sites 10-50 residential units: £345
 - Sites 51-100 residential units: £495
 - Sites 101 or more residential units: £ to be agreed with Council depending on size and complexity of the proposal, but no less than £495
 - Employment: £ to be agreed with the Council depending on size and complexity of the proposal, but no less than £4952.
- Site promoters of sites proposing 50 or more residential units or 1.0ha or more employment land will be required to pay the full fees during the CfS. Site promoters should use the viability assumptions which have been agreed by the Council's viability stakeholder group (as set out in the Viability Guidance Notes) and provide supporting evidence where the assumptions have not been used.
- Where required, to obtain a copy of the DVM, CfS site promoters should contact the Council prior to the submission of their sites to

²The initial fee for Employment uses and Sites 101 or more residential units will be £495. Additional fees may be required depending on the size and complexity of the proposal. Any additional fee will be discussed with the site promoter prior to further work being undertaken.

obtain a copy of the site-specific DVM by email (LDP@npt.gov.uk) providing a telephone number for the Council to ring back on and take payment. Following payment, the Council will issue the site-specific DVM, high-level viability statement template and instructions for use.

- Please note that the fee does not include any allowances for discussion between the Council Officers and site promoters. Whilst a high-level review of the appropriateness of the information submitted will be undertaken by the Council, this will only be made available as part of the viability evidence at the Preferred Strategy consultation. Neither this nor a detailed viability report will be provided to the site promoter.
- 3.7. Prior to the Deposit plan consultation, the Council will hold further Viability TWG/ steering group meetings and will finalise the high-level work and sitespecific work. Site promoters will be contacted on a site-by-site specific basis.
- 3.8. The Council encourages stakeholder engagement, if you would like to participate in the Viability Topic Working Group, please contact the Council's Planning Policy Team via:
 - Email: ldp@npt.gov.uk
 - Telephone: 01639 686821

Open Book Approach

3.9. Following discussions with the Council's Legal Team and the development industry, in accordance with national planning guidance (DPM, Edition 3, 2020, Paragraph 5.95), the Council will apply an 'open book' approach to viability information submitted to ensure transparency of evidence.

4. Assumptions

- 4.0.1. This Chapter outlines the assumptions that have broadly been agreed with the Council's Viability Steering Group.
- 4.0.2. Site promoters of residential sites providing 50+ units will be required to use the assumptions in this document or provide evidence to justify alternative assumptions were required.
- 4.0.3. Site promoters of residential sites providing less than 50 units will need to complete the viability questionnaire which should take into consideration the assumptions in this document or provide evidence to justify alternative values. The level of viability information does however not need to be as indepth as for sites providing 50+ units. As part of the viability steering group, it was agreed that employment sites are site-specific and that therefore it would be difficult to make generalized assumptions and that instead site promoters should provide evidence to justify site-specific assumptions.
- 4.0.4. Employment-led sites of above 1Ha need to complete the DVM and should therefore provide site-specific assumptions. Employment Sites providing less than 1.0+ha of employment land should complete the viability questionnaire. The level of information provided should be proportionate to the scale of development.
- 4.0.5. Site promoters for other uses should use appropriate values relevant to the type and scale of development proposed.
- 4.0.6. As much evidence and detail should be provided as possible, but this should be proportionate to the type and scale of development envisaged.

4.1. Housing Market Areas

- 4.1.1. Six housing sub market areas have been identified in NPT:
 - Port Talbot;
 - Neath;
 - Pontardawe;
 - Neath Valley and Dulais Valley;
 - Swansea Valley and Amman Valley; and
 - Afan Valley

Figure 2: Housing Market Areas



Table 1: NPT LDP Sub-Market Areas

Sub Market	Areas	Postcode
Port Talbot	Taibach/ Bryn/ Margam/ Cwmavon/	SA13 ½
	Pelenna/ Port Talbot/ Aberavon/ Sandfields East and West/ Baglan	SA12 6/7/8/9
Neath	Coeddffranc Central, North and West/ Bryncoch North and South/ Dyffryn/	SA10 6/7/8
	Crynant/ Aberdulais/ Cadoxton/ Neath	SA11 1/2/3
	North, East and South/ Briton Ferry/ Cimla/ Tonna	
Pontardawe	Pontardawe/ Trebanos/ Alltwen/ Rhos	SA8 3/4
Neath and	Crynant/ Seven Sisters/ Onllwyn/ Glynneath/ Blaengwrach/ Resolven	SA10 8/9
Dulais Valleys		SA11 4/5
Swansea	Gwaun Cae Gurwen/ Lower Brynamman/ Cwmllynfell/ Ystalyfera/ Godre'graig	SA9 2
and Amman		SA18 1
Valleys		
Afan Valley	Glyncorrwg/ Cymmer/ Gwynfi	SA13 3

4.2. Dwelling Sizes

- 4.2.1. Whilst no assumptions were agreed by the Viability TWG/ steering group for site-specific work, for the High-Level Viability Work it was agreed that the following WG Welsh Development Quality Requirements (DQR) 2021 Creating Beautiful Homes and Places should be used.
- 4.2.2. The DVM is populated with the following standards (WG DQR 2021 Creating Beautiful Homes and Places standards and England's nationally described space standards). Alternative values can be input. Evidence should be provided to support alternative dwelling sizes.

Home	House Type	Gross
Designation		
		(Floor)
		Area
		(sqm)
7P4B	2 storey house	114
6P4B	2 storey house	110
5P3B	2 storey house	93
4P3B	2 storey house	88
4P2B	2 storey house	83
3P2B	2 storey house	74
3P2B	Bungalow	58
3P2B	Flat – walk up	65
3P2B	Flat – Common	58
	access	

Figure 3: WG Welsh DQR 2021 - Creating Beautiful Homes and Places

2P1B	Flat – walk up	53
2P1B	Flat – common	50
	access	

Figure 4: England Nationally Described Space Standards

Home	House Type	Gross
Designation		Internal
		(Floor)
		Area
		(sqm)
8P6B	House	132
7P6B	House	123
8P5B	House	128
7P5B	House	119
6P5B	House	110
8P4B	House	124
7P4B	House	115
6P4B	House	106
5P4B	House	97
6P3B	House	102
5P3B	House	93
4P3B	House	84
4P2B	House	79

4P2B	Flat	70
3P2B	House	70
3P2B	Flat	61
2P1B	Flat	50
1P1B	Flat	39 (37sqm if shower)

4.3. Dwelling Mix and Types

4.3.1. Site promoters should use the following proportion of dwelling mix and types. These are based upon the most recent Local Housing Market Assessment (draft, 2023) and discussions during the Viability TWG/ steering group meetings.

Figure 5: Dwelling Mix and Types

Type of Bedroom	Proportion Market Housing	Proportion Affordable Housing
1-bed	5%	57%
2-bed	15%	18%
3-bed	50%	19%
4-bed	30%	6%

4.4. Affordable Housing – Requirements

4.4.1. With regards to affordable housing requirements, site promoters should include the following allowances for affordable housing:

- Neath and Port Talbot: Sites of 10 or more dwellings, 20% on-site affordable housing requirement.
- Pontardawe: Sites of 10 or more dwellings, 10% on-site affordable housing requirement.
- Neath Valley, Dulais Valley, Afan Valley, Swansea Valley and Amman Valley: No affordable housing requirement.
- 4.4.2. These values differ to the requirements in the current LDP, and are based upon the Council's initial high-level viability assessment work.
- 4.4.3. Of these requirements, the following tenures should be provided:
 - Social rent: 70%
 - Intermediate: 30%
- 4.4.4. The following transfer values should be used for each tenure:
 - Social rent: 40% of open market value; and
 - Intermediate/ low cost home ownership: 70% of open market value.
- 4.4.5. The Council requires the percentage of affordable housing detailed above to be delivered via s.106 contributions rather than rely upon Social Housing Grant Funding.
- 4.4.6. Where a registered social landlord is on board, Social Housing Grant Funding could be included as an assumption to deliver additional affordable units where schemes have been identified as part of the PDP process/ discussed with housing colleagues and are expected to come forward within the immediate time period (see funding section below).
- 4.4.7. Exceptions to this will include 100% affordable housing schemes promoted by Registered Social Landlords where they have been identified as part of the PDP process/ been discussed with housing colleagues and are expected to come forward within the immediate time period.

- 4.4.8. For such schemes the Council would condition on application 25% to remain as affordable dwellings. For these the process for calculating Gross Development Value (GDV) should be made up of the following three components:
 - a) Rental and/or capital receipts from the affordable dwellings. Income from this source will be from the capitalised net annual rents (for a given time period at a given discount rate) from the social rented, affordable rented and immediate rent, and the rental element of the shared ownership dwellings;
 - b) Any proceeds that may be reinvested from staircasing receipts, Right to Acquire or external subsidies, such as capital grants and New Homes Bonus; and
 - c) Any internal registered provider subsidy

4.5. Funding Streams

- 4.5.1. Whilst the LDP is one of the significant means of delivering affordable housing, the Council recognises that its policies and allocations are not the only delivery mechanisms. Other mechanisms include, but are not limited to, Social Housing Grant, other capital grants, RSL self-funded schemes, subdivision of existing properties, re-utilisation of voids across the existing social stock, social lettings agencies, re-utilisation of vacant space, stock acquisition and conversion of private sector empty homes.
- 4.5.2. With regards to calculating affordable housing contributions where Social Housing Grant is proposed to be used, the Council's Affordable Housing SPG provides the following guidance for affordable housing delivery with the use of Social Housing Grant.
 - Paragraph 4.2.7 states that in the case of a scheme being developed in partnership by a private developer and an RSL using Social Housing Grant, RSL own funds or other grant funding, for part market housing and part grant funded affordable housing, the developer will be

required to make a contribution to affordable housing based only on the market housing element of the scheme. For example, in a 25% housing zone, where a 20 unit scheme is proposed containing 8 units to be built using Social Housing Grant, and 12 units for sale on the open market, the 8 Social Housing Grant units will be excluded from the calculation, and an affordable housing contribution will be sought on the 12 market units.

- Paragraph 4.2.8 states that this approach will ensure open market units make an appropriate affordable housing contribution through the planning system, and developers do not try to use grant funding in lieu of developer contributions. In such circumstances, the S.106 agreement would stipulate that if the proposed Social Housing Grant/ grant funded units are not developed for affordable housing, and are for sale on the open market, the S.106 agreement would be revisited and the affordable housing contribution would be based on the full number of units within the development.
- 4.5.3. National guidance (DPM, Table 25) states that one of the key core inputs to site-specific viability appraisals should be RSL information/ grant availability, if known.
- 4.5.4. In line with this guidance, where Social Housing Grant, or any other grant/subsidy is proposed to be used, this should be specified in the "costs" sheet of the DVM. Depending on the nature of the capital grants and/or subsidy, these should be entered as either a lump sum or in instalments.

4.6. House Prices

4.6.1. The following sales values per square metre should be used in the sitespecific viability appraisals. These are based upon discussions with the Council's viability TWG. Where alternative values are considered to be more appropriate, detailed evidence should be provided to support these alternative values. This should include information such as comparable sales values etc.

Table 2: Sales Values per Square Metre

Housing Market Area	Sales Vales (£)						
	per Square Metre						
	(sqm)						
Port Talbot	£3,100						
Neath	£3,100						
Pontardawe	£2,850						
Neath Valley and Dulais Valley	£2,600						
Swansea Valley and Amman Valley	£2,600						
Afan Valley	£2,500						

4.7. Net Developable Area

- 4.7.1. The net developable area should be calculated based upon the following ratios. Where alternative values are proposed, further information (such as a constraints map/ site appraisal map) should be provided.
 - 100% ratio for sites up to 1ha
 - 85% ratio for sites of 1ha to less than 2ha
 - 80% ratio for sites of 2ha to less than 4ha
 - 75% ratio for sites of 4ha and above
 - PLUS 10% allowance for SuDS on all sites³.

4.8. Density

4.8.1. The Council's 'Design' SPG (2017)⁴ advises that there are a number of design approaches that can be used within the overall site design concept to ensure that higher density can be achieved successfully without compromising principles of sustainable development. These include:

³ See SuDS section below.

⁴ Available at: <u>https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf</u>

- Provision of high quality open space to provide visual relief and recreation opportunities, preferably located around concentrations of services and facilities; The provision of some useable private open space for all dwellings, for example patios and balconies;
- Clear demarcation between public and private spaces; and
- The integration of carparking provision more efficiently into the overall concept, avoiding the domination of the street scene
- 4.8.2. The SPG says that to calculate the density of a site:
 - The site area needs to be measured in hectares;
 - On larger housing development, or developments containing multiple dwellings, the whole site area, including any access roads and amenity spaces will be included in the site area.
 - On single unit schemes, the site area should be taken from the front boundary and include the total size of the plot.

Figure 6: Density Calculation

Dwellings Per Hectare = Number of Dwellings / Site Area (Hectares)

- 4.8.3. Consideration should be given to both Future Wales and NPT LDP Policy BE1 'Design'.
- 4.8.4. Schemes should therefore be tested at least 35 dwellings per hectare, increasing where appropriate to 50 dwellings per hectare (these are from the NPT LDP and Future Wales respectively). Where alternative values are used, evidence should be provided to support alternative assumptions.

4.9. Basic Build/ Plot Costs

The following values for basic build/ plot costs should be used, or evidence provided to justify alternative values.

• for sites of up to 50 units, £1,200/sqm; and

- for sites of more than 50 units, £1,100/sqm.
- 4.9.1. As part of the DVM submission, build costs can be spread in a linear distribution over the defined build period or site promoters can choose a typical S-curve distribution of these costs, or create their own custom distribution.

4.10. Additional Build Costs

- 4.10.1. In addition to basic build costs, national planning guidance (DPM, Table 24) suggests that consideration should also be given to other build costs which have not been accommodated by the basic build/ plot costs figures (for example changes to building regulations) and notes that "*it is important the viability work includes all known costs in order to ensure that the work is relevant, up-to-date and robust*". These should be recorded in the "costs" sheet of the DVM and evidence regarding assumptions should be provided within the accompanying high-level viability statement.
- 4.10.2. The following values should be used for additional build costs, or evidence provided to justify alternative values:
 - Sprinklers: £2,000 per dwelling
 - ULEV charging points: £550 per dwelling
 - Part L Requirements: £3,000 per dwelling

4.11. Normal External Site Costs

- 4.11.1. In addition to the basic cost of building houses ("plot cost") there are costs associated with servicing which are also not included within the basic build/ plot cost. Collectively known as "external costs", these include all additional costs associated with the site curtilage of the built area including circulation space in flatted areas and garden space with housing units; incidental landscaping costs including trees and hedges, soft and hard landscaping; estate roads and connections to the strategic infrastructure such as sewers and utilities.
- 4.11.2. Site promoters should include the following normal external site cost

assumptions, or provide evidence to justify alternative values.

- Sites of less than 10 units: 15% of "plot" costs
- Sites of 10 or more dwellings: £17,500 per dwelling

4.12. Opening Up Costs

- 4.12.1. The Council recognises that developing greenfield and brownfield sites represent different risk and costs and that these costs can vary significantly depending on the site's specific characteristics.
- 4.12.2. For greenfield site typologies as part of high-level viability work, assumptions are sometimes made for opening-up costs such as utilities, land preparation, spine roads and SuDS as these are not taken into account in basic build/ plot costs. It is generally considered that these increase as schemes get bigger up to a point, after which the developer will benefit from economies of scale in opening costs per property. For site-specific viability appraisals, it is often considered that these opening up costs should be taken into consideration in the price paid for the land. It is therefore considered that assumptions are being made, evidence should be provided to justify such costs, including reasoning as to why these are not coming off the land value.

4.13. Abnormal Costs

- 4.13.1. Whilst it is acknowledged that abnormal costs will arise on certain sites, including (for example) land remediateion, ecological constraints, additional foundation works and/or signififcatn retaining wall construction; abnormal costs can vary considerably between sites. It is considered that such costs should be reflected in the land value.
- 4.13.2. Any abnormal/ exceptional build costs should be itemised on the "costs" sheet of the DVM and evidence should be provided to support such cost, including reasoning as to why these are not coming off the land value.

4.14. SuDS

4.14.1. WG requires:

- All new developments of more than 1 residential dwelling or where the construction area is of 100sqm or more, to provide sustainable drainage to manage on-site surface water; and
- Surface water drainage systems to be designed and built in accordance with mandatory
- standards for sustainable drainage published by Welsh Minister.
- 4.14.2. These systems must be approved by the local authority acting in its SuDS Approving Body (SAB) role before construction work begins. SAB has a duty to approve, adopt and maintain systems compliant with Section 17 of Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010.
- 4.14.3. As part of the site-specific viability appraisal, site promoters should include the following assumption for SuDS. Any supporting/ additional information, in particular any discussions with the Council's SAB team should be provided. Where alternative values are used, supporting evidence should be provided to justify the alternative values.
 - £4,500 per dwelling

4.15. Profit

- 4.15.1. The developer's profit is the expected and reasonable level of return that a private developer would expect to achieve from a specific development scheme.
- 4.15.2. National planning guidance (DPM) stresses the importance of allowing an adequate profit margin for a developer when assessing viability, noting on pp.128 that "development can be considered viable *if, after taking account of all known costs including: Government policy/* regulations, *all construction*

and infrastructure costs, the cost of and availability of finance, other costs such as fees and a contingency sum, the value of the development will generate a **surplus sufficient to provide both an adequate profit margin for the developer** and a land value sufficient to encourage a landowner to sell for the proposed use".

- 4.15.3. The RICS (2012) 'Financial Viability in Planning' Guidance Note (GN 94/2012)(25) notes that the level of profit required will vary from scheme to scheme, depending on the degree of risk and the stage in the economic cycle. A smaller scheme, for example, constructed over a shorter timeframe may be considered relatively less risky and therefore attract a lower profit margin, given the exit position is more certain, than a large redevelopment scheme spanning a number of years where the outturn is considerably more uncertain.
- 4.15.4. As part of the site-speicfic viability appraisls, site promoters should include the following assumptions. Where alternative values are proposed, evidence should be provided to support the alternative values.
 - 15-20% GDV for market dwellings
 - 6% affordable housing cost

4.16. Interest

- 4.16.1. National planning guidance recognises in Table 24 that the interest rate is a viability modelling consideration, noting in particular the link beteeen developer profit margin and the link to interest rates charged for finance.
- 4.16.2. The following interest rates should be used in the site-specific viability appraisals. Where alternative values are proposed, evidence should be provided to support these values.
 - • 6.0% debit interest
 - • 0.5% p.a. credit

4.17. Contingency

- 4.17.1. The Council recognises that the more complex the development project, the more potential there is for the site to encounter various difficulties or delays.
- 4.17.2. National planning guidance states in Table 24 that "plan makers should not plan to the margin of viability but should allow for a contingency to respond to changing markets and avoid the need for frequent plan updating. Including a contingency within the viability study will de-risk the plan in that there is room to accommodate a change in economic circumstances/ site specific issues".
- 4.17.3. For the site-specific appraisals, site promoters should include the following assumption for contingency. This can be added as either a fixed sum or a percentage of build costs (entered into either the "project" sheet or the "costs" sheet of the DVM). Where alternative values are proposed, supporting evidence should be provided to justify these values.
 - • 5% total build cost.

4.18. s.106 Costs (Excl. Affordable Housing)

- 4.18.1. Following discussions with the Council's education and open space colleagues as part of viability work undertaken to date, the following assumptions should be included within the site-specific viability appraisals for education, recreational space (open space), and welsh language.
- 4.18.2. Please note that these differ to the requirements of the current LDP.
 - 1. Education:
 - 1-bed: No contribution required.
 - 2-bed+: £11,032 per dwelling
 - 2. Recreational Space:
 - 1-bed: £2,108 per dwelling

- 2-bed+: £3,372 per dwelling
- 3. Welsh Language:

Amman Valley, Swansea Valley, Dulais Valley and Pontardawe: £200 per dwelling

• All other spatial areas: No contribution required.

4.19. Professional Fees

- 4.19.1. An allowance for professional fees in connection with:
 - Planning and building regulations approvals;
 - Housing construction costs; and
 - Physical infrastructure works
- 4.19.2. For example, allowances for architects, engineers, quantity surveyors and planning consultants fees should be provided within the site-specific viability appraisals.
- 4.19.3. The following assumption should be used within these appraisals, or evidence provided to justify alternative values.
 - • 4% 12% on 'plot' costs, depending on site size
 - 10% on major infrastructure/abnormal costs.

4.20. Land Cost Fees

- 4.20.1. The following assumptions should be included within the site-specific viability appraisals:
 - Land transaction tax at appropriate rate⁵

⁵ Land Transaction Tax (LTT) replaced Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) in Wales from 1 April 2018.

• Legal and agent's fees: 1.5% of land cost

4.21. Sales and Marketing Fees

- 4.21.1. National guidance (DPM, Table 24) recognises that marketing costs can vary significantly from site to site, noting that marketing costs will be influenced by the size of developers operating in the area and site size and nature.
 - Sales/ letting fees associated with the sale/ letting of the units should be added to the "costs" sheet of the DVM.
 - 2.5% of open market Gross Development Value for sales and marketing costs.
 - £600 per dwelling for legal fees.

4.22. Land Value Benchmarks

- 4.22.1. The following values should be used for site-specific viability appraisals. Where alternative values are used, evidence should be provided to support these values.
 - • Port Talbot: £470,000/ha
 - Neath: £520,000/ha
 - Pontardawe: £430,000/ha
 - Neath and Dulais Valleys: £245,000/ha

4.23. Development Period, Build Period and Sales Start

4.23.1. Information should be provided within the DVM with regards to development

WG has a useful tax calculator on its website: <u>https://gov.wales/land-transaction-tax-calculator</u>.

period, build period and sales start.

- 4.23.2. The Council realises that these are site-specific. A reasonable and realistic estimate should therefore be provided for these in the development appraisal. Supporting information should be provided where relevant.
- 4.23.3. In the case of blocks of flats, where construction work on the building must be completed before individual flats can be occupied, the model will automatically assume the sales start date is the month following the build. In cases where it is expected that sales will start before the practical completion, the sales start date can automatically be entered into the model.
- 4.23.4. The following assumptions provide indicative assumptions for phasing:
 - 1. For market housing:
 - Sales rate per annum:
 - 1 dwelling: 12 sales per annum
 - 2-4 dwellings: 8 sales per annum
 - o 5-9 dwellings: 10 sales per annum
 - 10-19 dwellings: 16 sales per annum
 - o 20-49 dwellings: 35 sales per annum
 - o 50-99 dwellings: 30 sales per annum
 - 100+ dwellings: 36 sales per annum
 - Pre-construction period:
 - 1 dwelling: 9 months
 - 2-4 dwellings: 9 months
 - 5-9 dwellings: 9 months
 - 10-19 dwellings: 12 months

- o 20-49 dwellings: 12 months
- 50-99 dwellings: 9 months
- 100+ dwellings: 12 months
- Overhang period:
 - 1 dwelling: 0 months
 - 2-4 dwellings: 0 months
 - 5-9 dwellings: 0 months
 - 10-19 dwellings: 2 months
 - 20-49 dwellings: 2 months
 - 50-99 dwellings: 3 months
 - 100+ dwellings: 3 months
- 4.23.5. For affordable housing: Delivery of affordable dwellings should be assumed to be akin to open market dwelling delivery on site, yet without the overhang period. This is considered to be a fair reflection of how s.106 agreements are implemented. Where alternative assumptions are being used further explanation should be provided.

5. Development Viability Model (DVM)

5.0.1. This Chapter provides guidance to aid the completion of the DVM.

5.1. Background

- 5.1.1. To prepare the DVM, NPTC have worked in partnership with the eight authorities in the Mid and South West Wales regions and planning and development consultants Burrows-Hutchinson Ltd. to develop a site-specific viability appraisal tool which has been created as a comprehensive, user-friendly model for use by site promoters and decision makers for the purpose of assessing the financial viability of development proposals.
- 5.1.2. The Council has also worked in partnership with those detailed above to develop a **Regional Viability Model (RVM)** for the high-level viability work which is capable of making reliable and transparent high-level assessments of the financial viability of typical development typologies and, where appropriate, of key/ allocated sites in the absence of more site-specific data.
- 5.1.3. The DVM includes four main sheets:
 - <u>The "land" sheet</u> records the total price to be paid for the development site which can be split into tranches; calculates the Land Transaction Tax that is payable on that price; and allows applicants to add other costs appropriate to the land purchase, including legal and agents' fees.
 - <u>The "costs" sheet</u> is where all development costs (apart from land and basic build/ plot costs) are <u>inputted</u> and summarised.
 - <u>The "cashflow" sheet</u> is where all data from the various input sheets is collected to create a <u>monthly</u> cashflow for the development as a whole. From this sheet, the cost of financing the development project is calculated.
 - The "appraisal" sheet pulls together the applicants inputs to the

cashflow and summarises them into a single sheet, showing how the resultant development profit compares with a target margin that can be set by the applicant. The "appraisal" sheet also gives the user access to sensitivity tables to illustrate the impact on development profit arising from incremental variations to core inputs to the appraisal. It also has a facility for testing the impact of percentage changes to different factors in the appraisal.

- 5.1.4. There are also a number of other sheets which you will need/ may need or want to enter data in:
 - Project worksheet the front page to the DVM;
 - Resi overview worksheet input and summarise residential elements of the scheme;
 - SDT worksheet this worksheet provides a list of standard dwelling types drawing upon the Welsh Government (WG) Development Quality Requirements (DQR) 2021 – Creating Beautiful Homes and Places standards and England's nationally described space standards;
 - Element worksheets these are created when data is input into the overview worksheets. Separate ones are created for each 'element';
 - Development planner; and
 - Cashflow
- 5.1.5. Each copy of the model will be 'locked' to a specific development site. The same copy of the model can, however, be used to re-assess different development proposals/ scenarios for that specific site.
- 5.1.6. The DVM incorporates a "Quick Guide" and "Help Notes" and upon payment of the above fees the Council will provide a detailed 'DVM - User Guide' to aid the completion of the DVM. How to videos are also provided on the <u>Council's website www.npt.gov.uk/cs</u>.

To obtain a copy of the DVM, please contact the Planning Policy Team via email: ldp@npt.gov.uk and provide a phone number to enable us to ring back and take payment. The Council will then issue the site-specific model and supporting guidance.

5.2. Getting Started

- 5.2.1. In addition to this guidance note and the viability assumptions, you will also have received a detailed user guide. Help videos are also available on the Council's website:
 - Introduction to the DVM for Planning;
 - <u>Resi Overview;</u>
 - Resi Elements;
 - Costs; and
 - Appraisal and Cashflow
- 1.2. Upon opening the site-specific DVM you will be presented with the following 'project' sheet:

Figure 7: 'Project' Worksheet

File Home Insert Page Layout Formulas Data R	teview View Foxit PDF ♀ Tell me what you want to do
PROTECTED VIEW Be careful—email attachments can contain virus	es. Unless you need to edit, it's safer to stay in Protected View. Enable Editing
00 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1 Development Develop	Help
2 Viability Public	c Version March 2023
3 MSWW Region	
5 Enter Si	the IDA Site Reference.
6 NB: Fields marked * are mandatory	default has been changed on another sheet.
7 Site Name *	
8 Site Address *	DEFAULT SETTINGS
9 Postcode	Target Profit Margin on OM Resi GDV 20.00% Land Acquisition Fees 1.50% Legal & Agency
10 Local Planning Authority *	LPA Site Reference * Resi External Costs 15.00% of Resi Build Costs
11 Planning Reference (if applicable)	Construction Fees & Contingency
12 Scheme Description *	Resi Build 5.00%
14 Version	Other Construction 10.00%
15 Author & Organisation *	Contribution 2000 on Total Costs
16 Select Residential, enter Commercial or both for Mixed Use *	Residential No. of Commercial/Investment Elements Lettings, Sales and Marketing
17 Total Gross Site Area (hectares) *	acres Enter either Net/Gross Agent's letting fee 10.00% of Annual Rent
18 Total Net Developable Area (hectares) *	acres hectares or acres %age Legal letting fees 5.00% of Annual Rent
19 Net Developable Area (Commercial/Investment)	acres Total Comm/Inv GIA m ² Agent's resi sales 1.00% of Market Value
20 Total No. of Dwellings *	Enter 0 if non-residential Legals on OM sales £650 per dwelling
21 ACG Band (for affordable housing) *	Social Rent Intermediate Legals on Affordable £650 per dwelling
22 Max. Residential Sales Rate (large sites) *	Finance Costs and Funding
24 Revidential Site Value *	units p.a. E/net na E/net ac Debut interest 0.50% p.a.
25 Commercial/Investment Site Value	Creat Interest 0.000 p.a.
26 Total Site Value	average Borrowing 60.00% of Capital Employed
27 Valuation basis *	Repay target 100.00% of Borrowing
28 Any note on valuation	Equity 40.00% of Capital Employed
29 Land Purchase Date (if applicable)	MM/YYYY format
30 Development Start Date *	MM/YYYY format Max Cashflow period (years) *
31	
32	
33	
35	
36	
37	
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
Quick Guide Project SDT ACGs	
Ready	

- 1.3. Before completing the model please save the model on your computer and press 'enable editing'.
- 1.4. You will then need to complete all remaining fields with an asterisk alongside an orange box.
- 1.5. Some of the fields already contain figures in blue text, these are 'default' settings in the regional model. You can change these. Some of these will need to be amended to reflect the assumptions in the accompanying document. We would suggest reading this document in full before proceeding as it will highlight the impact of figures in this first page.
- 1.6. If your scheme includes residential and commercial elements in a mixeduse scheme, you will need to specify separate site values for each element. These will then be automatically aggregated into a total site value in Cell B26.

- 1.7. If your scheme includes either only residential or commercial, you will need to leave the other use blank (i.e. input into only Cells B24 or B25).
- 1.8. Once these have been completed click the 'validate and proceed' button at the top of the project sheet to start the appraisal.
- 1.9. Please note that once the 'validate and proceed' button on the Project sheet the button will disappear as this button, which creates the other worksheets, can be run only once. In addition, once the button has been activated, certain other entries/ cells on the Project sheet will be 'locked', and cannot be changed thereafter. This includes the ACG Band and the related percentages in cells E20 and H20.
- 1.10. Once this has been clicked a number of additional worksheets will open.For residential schemes, the first is the 'resi overview' sheet.
- 1.11. For commercial sites, the first worksheets you will need to complete are the 'comm-inv' elements.

Resi Overview Worksheet

1.12. For residential schemes, the next worksheet you will need to complete is the 'resi overview' worksheet.

Figure 8: 'Resi Overview' Worksheet



- 1.13. The 'resi overview' sheet is the sheet in which you should add the dwelling types; their size; their value; and the mix of dwelling types in the scheme, including the number of affordable housing and their tenure (social rent or intermediate).
- 1.14. In order to enter the values you can either:
 - Enter the values into the 'resi overview' sheet itself; or
 - Draw upon the pre-populated data in the 'SDT' worksheet (this includes the nationally described space standards and Welsh Government (WG) Development Quality Requirements (DQR) 2021 – Creating Beautiful Homes and Places standards already).

Figure 9: 'SDT' Worksheet

•

	Standard Dwelling T	ypes					-			
	-		(u	pdate Dw	elling Type	e List	(Populate Re	si Overview sheet	
	Dwelling Tune	Include	SDT Cada	Class	Red/Ore	Lavala	GIA m2	GIA 42 50	Description /Developer	
1	1 hod flat	include	N1a	Elat	1h2n	teveis	50.0	530 N	Nationally described space standar	d
2	1 bod bouse		NIL	Hee	1620	2	58.0	536 N	Nationally described space standar	u
	2 hed flat		NZo.	Flat	262p	1	51.0	657 N	Nationally described space standar	d
	2 bod flat		N26	Flat	2050	-	70.0	752 N	Nationally described space standar	d
	2 had torr/romi		N20	Hee	204p	2	70.0	753 N	Nationally described space standar	4
5	2-bed terr/semi		Mad	Hee	205p	2	70.0	755 N	Nationally described space standar	4
,	2 had flat		NZ0	Flat	204p	4	79.0	707 N	Nationally described space standar	
0	5-bed flat		Noa	Flat	364p	1	74.0	797 N	Nationally described space standar	
1	3 had tag (sam)		N2-	Flat	2640	1	84.0	920 N	Nationally described space standar	
2	3 had dat'd (sem)		N2-	Hee	364p	2	03.0	1 001 N	Nationally described space standar	4
3	3-bed det d/semi		NSa	rise	3050	2	93.0	1,001 N	Nationally described space standar	
4	3-bed townhouse		NJe	Hse	305p	2.5	99.0	1,000 N	Nationally described space standar	
5	3-bed townhouse		IN ST	Hse	3000	3	108.0	1,163 N	Nationally described space standar	a
6	4-bed detached		N4a	Hse	4050	2	97.0	1,044 N	Nationally described space standar	
7	4-bed townhouse		N4D	Hse	4050	2.5	103.0	1,109 N	Nationally described space standar	
8	4-bed detached		N4C	rise	4060	2	106.0	1,141 N	Nationally described space standar	
9	4-bed townhouse		N4d	Hse	4000	3	112.0	1,206 N	Nationally described space standar	
0	4-bed detached		N4e	Hse	40/p	2	115.0	1,238 N	Nationally described space standar	a
1	4-bed detached		N4t	Hse	4b/p	2.5	121.0	1,302 N	Nationally described space standar	d
2	5-bed detached		N5a	Hse	568p	2	128.0	1,378 N	Nationally described space standar	d
3	5-bed detached		N5b	Hse	568p	2.5	134.0	1,442 N	Nationally described space standar	d
4	1-bed flat - c/access		Ala	Flat c/a	162p	1	50.0	538 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
5	1-bed flat - walk up		Alb	Flat w/u	1b2p	1	53.0	571 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
6	2-bed flat - c/access		A2a	Flat c/a	2b3p	1	58.0	624 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
7	2-bed flat - walk up		A2b	Flat w/u	2b3p	1	65.0	700 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
8	2-bed bungalow		A2c	Bung	2b3p	1	58.0	624 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
9	2-bed terr/semi-det'o	1	A2d	Hse	2b3p	2	74.0	797 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
0	2-bed semi/terraced		AZe	Hse	2b4p	2	83.0	893 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
1	3-bed semi/terraced		A3a	Hse	364p	2	88.0	947 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
2	3-bed detached		A3b	Hse	365p	2	93.0	1,001 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
3	4-bed semi/terraced		A4a	Hse	4b6p	2	110.0	1,184 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
4	4-bed detached		A4b	Hse	4b7p	2	114.0	1,227 A	New Welsh DQR standard	
5										
6										

- 1.15. Detailed guidance on how to enter values into the 'resi overview' sheet is provided in the guidance notes and help notes provided. An overview is also provided within the <u>Resi Overview video</u> on the Council's website.
- 1.16. <u>Please note</u> that given that the Council does not use ACG values to calculate transfer values you will need to over-write the transfer values by inserting a different value in Column J.
- 1.17. In order to do this you will need to calculate the equivalent of 40% open market

value for social rented units and 70% for intermediate/ low cost home ownership properties.

1.18. A warning message will appear in column P after doing this as the model is set up so that it can be used to calculate percentage of ACG for affordable housing for other authorities who use this to calculate transfer values.

0	Р	Q
ot, Site Ref: DVM2	23	
?		
User Notes	Warnings	
40% affordable 40% affordable	Not standard DQR/ACG	
40% affordable	Not standard DQR/ACG	

Figure 4: Warning Message

- 1.19. Column G of the 'resi overview' sheet enables you to split the development into different 'elements'.
- 1.20. These elements can correspond to separate phases of a relatively large scheme, or where for example the construction timetable for different elements will be different (for example where on a large scheme have a mixture of houses and flats flats may be a separate element as they need to all be built before selling).

Figure 5: Elements



- 1.21. The DVM enables up to 20 elements to be created, although it is suggested that you should be proportionate to the scale and complexity of the scheme.
- 1.22. If only a single element is required for your development, enter '1' in column G for every row.
- 1.23. When all your entries into the 'resi overview' worksheet are complete, check that the number of units remaining to be specified in the top left corner of the worksheet is '0' to avoid an error message.

Figure 6: Number of Units Remaining



1.24. When you are happy click the 'create resi elements' button at the top-right

hand corner of the worksheet.

Figure 7: Create Resi Element Sheets



- 1.25. If you have chosen to subdivide your development into more than one element, the DVM will ask you whether you want to use its <u>development</u> <u>planner</u> to drawn up a programme for each element, and the development as a whole on an additional spreadsheet.
- 1.26. If you click 'yes', an additional worksheet with a yellow tab will appear next to the 'resi overview' worksheet on the toolbar at the bottom of your screen, together with additional worksheet tabs for each of the 'elements' you have specified.

Figure 8: Development Planner



1.27. If you click 'no', you will simply see that the DVM has created the additional sheets for each of those elements without a 'development planner' worksheet.

Figure 9: Resi Element

AA	8	C	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	м	N	0	Р	Q	R	
1 2						Total U	Inits for	OM: 80		Total GIA Sales m ³				n ² for OM: 7,724.0 Total Values for OM: £18,370,0				
2 LPA: City & County of Swansea			Total Units for SR: 12 Total GIA Sa						al GIA Sales m ² for SR: 1,152.0 Total Values for SR: £920					for SR: £920,808				
3 Site Ref: CCS 2020		UNDATE Comment describes			Total Units for Int: 12					Total GIA Sales m ² for Int: 996.0				Total Values for Int: £1,377,600				
4		Cashflow wit	clement detai	is in	2	Total U	Inits: 10	14	0		Total GIA	Sales m2:	9,872.0		Total Values (GDV): £20,668,408			
5 NB: Fields marked * are mandatory		comp	leted/amende	d														
		(and the second		/	No. of	SDT	Dwelling	Tune	No. of	Unit GIA	Element	Tenura	Hsg Mix	Sale/Tfr	f	TOTAL VALUES	
6						Units	Code	Distant		Levels	Sales m ²	No	remare	%age	Value	r pani	(GDV)	
7 Sales GIA m ²	9,872.0			_		12	N2c	Hse	2b4p	2	83.0	1	OM	11.5%	£185,000	£2,229	£2,220,000	
8 Net to Gross Ratio *	100.0%	Build GIA m ²	9,872.0	J		10	N3c	Hse	3b4p	2	86.0	1	OM	9.6%	£200,000	£2,326	£2,000,000	
9 Enter Build Cost Rate OR Total Build	f Cost *					18	N3d	Hse	3b5p	2	96.0	1	OM	17.3%	£225,000	€2,344	£4,050,000	
10 Build Cost Rate (per m ²)		Total Build Cost				20	N4a	Hse	4b5p	2	100.0	1	OM	19.2%	£245,000	£2,450	£4,900,000	
11 Build & Sales Timescale		Sele	ect OM Build Co	ost Distrib	ution:	20	N4c	Hse	4b6p	2	107.0	1	OM	19.2%	£260,000	£2,430	£5,200,000	
12 Build Start *		month number		Line	ar	12	N3d	Hse	3b5p	2	96.0	1	SR	11.5%	£76,734	£799	£920,808	
13 Enter Build Period OR Sales Start AN	D Sales Ove	erhang * (months b	etween close o	f build		12	N2c	Hse	2b4p	2	83.0	1	Int	11.5%	£114,800	£1,383	£1,377,600	
14 Build Period (months)		and f	inal sale)				-											
15 Sales Start (month number)		Sales Ove	rhang (months)		Element Name						~							
16 Total OM Units in Element	80		Total AH Units		Please enter a	descriptive n	ame for	this Element		OK								
17 OM Sales Rate (units/mth)		% of total units	Units remaining		You will be ab	le to edit the	name su	ubsequently.										
18 First month of sales	3.33	4.2%	77	AH Saler	-					Cancel								
19 Mths 2 to 6 (per mth)	3.33	20.8%	60	per Me	•													
20 Mths 7 to 12 (per mth)	3.33	25.0%	40		1													
21 Post mth 12 (per mth)	3.33	25.0%																
22 Total OM Sales Period	24	AH	Delivery Period		24													
23 Calculated Build Period	24		AH Build Period		24													
24																		
25 Notes:																		
26																		
27														0				
28																		
29																		
30																		
31																		
32			A LINGTON	and the second se		and and and and	Contraction of the local division of the loc		-						2.03	_		
quick Guide Project	SUI	Kesi Overview	Kesi 1 Resi 2	Land	COSTS AP	prasal C	asinnow	ALGS	(2	1					1 4			

1.28. <u>Please note</u>, you can return to the 'resi overview' sheet, to change any of your original entries. If you do, you will notice that the top right hand button has changed to read 'update resi elements sheets'.

Figure 10: Update Resi Elements



- 1.29. Any change that you make to your original resi overview entries will not transfer to the appraisal until you use this button (i.e. update the resi overview sheet).
- 1.30. You will then need to revisit each element sheet to ensure that the entries appearing there are still valid, making any changes that are necessary on those sheets to align with whatever changes you make to the Resi Overview before clicking the 'update cashflow' on the last element sheet.
- 1.31. Clicking the 'update cashflow' button will transfer all the revised information to the cashflow sheet and, via that, to the appraisal sheet.
- 1.32. The DVM helpfully highlights bits in the resi elements sheets where changes

have been made by highlighting these blue.

Development Planner

- 1.33. The purpose of the development planner is to help the user plan and interweave the different elements/ phases in larger or more complex development projects. It essentially allows the user to produce a visual representation of how each element will fit into the overall development timeline.
- 1.34. As noted in the previous section, you do not have to use this to complete the DVM.
- 1.35. There is detailed guidance in the DVM User Guide on how to use this worksheet if you decide to include it within your model.

Resi Elements Worksheet

- 1.36. The next worksheet you will need to complete if developing residential accommodation is the 'resi elements' worksheets. You will get a separate one of these for each element specified in the previous 'resi elements' worksheet.
- 1.37. You can access the 'resi elements' worksheet by clicking on the tab at the bottom of the model.
- 1.38. When you first open the resi element worksheet, you will be asked to give the element a name, the DVM will not allow you to move on until you have done this.
- 1.39. The name you give the element will appear in Cell A1 at the top left hand corner of the worksheet. This can be changed at any time by over-typing a different name in Cell A1.
- 1.40. Each element sheet is designed to collate information about the basic build costs, and the build and sales programme relating to that element of the project.

1.41. A summary of the dwellings in each element drawn from the 'resi overview' sheet and the 'project' summary will automatically be populated.

A	ß	С	D	E		F G	н	1	J	K	L	м	N	0	Р	Q	R		
1 2						Total U	nits for	OM: 80			Total GIA	Sales m ³ fo	or OM: 7	724.0	Total Va	lues for (DM: £18,370,000		
2 LPA: City & County of Swansea				_	_	Total U	nits for	SR: 12			Total GIA	Sales m ² fo	or SR: 1,1	52.0	Tot	al Values	for SR: £920,808		
3 Site Ref: CCS 2020		URDAT	Element detail			Total U	nits for	Int: 12			Total GIA	Sales m ² fo	or Int: 99	6.0	Total Values for Int: £1,377,60				
4		Cashflow w	hen All Resi sh	eets are		7 Total U	nits: 10	14	2		Total GIA	Sales m ² :	9,872.0		Total V	alues (GD	V): £20,668,408		
5 NB: Fields marked * are mandatory		com	leted/amended	4		·)				·									
6					/	No. of Units	SDT Code	Dwelling	Туре	No. of Levels	Unit GIA Sales m ²	Element No	Tenure	Hsg Mix %age	Sale/Tfr Value	£ psm	TOTAL VALUES (GDV)		
7 Sales GIA m ²	9,872.0					12	N2c	Hse	2b4p	2	83.0	1	OM	11.5%	£185,000	£2,229	£2,220,000		
8 Net to Gross Ratio *	100.0%	Build GIA m ²	9,872.0]		10	N3c	Hse	3b4p	2	86.0	1	OM	9.6%	£200,000	£2,326	£2,000,000		
9 Enter Build Cost Rate OR Total Build (Cost *					18	N3d	Hse	3b5p	2	96.0	1	OM	17.3%	£225,000	£2,344	£4,050,000		
10 Build Cost Rate (per m ²)		Total Build Cost				20	N4a	Hse	4b5p	2	100.0	1	OM	19.2%	£245,000	£2,450	£4,900,000		
11 Build & Sales Timescale		Sel	ect OM Build Co	st Distrib	ution:	20	N4c	Hse	4b6p	2	107.0	1	OM	19.2%	£260,000	£2,430	£5,200,000		
12 Build Start *		month number		Line	ar	12	N3d	Hse	3b5p	2	96.0	1	SR	11.5%	£76,734	£799	£920,808		
13 Enter Build Period OR Sales Start AND	Sales Ove	rhang * (months b	etween close of	build		12	N2c	Hse	2b4p	2	83.0	1	Int	11.5%	£114,800	£1,383	£1,377,600		
14 Build Period (months)		and	final sale)																
15 Sales Start (month number)		Sales Ov	erhang (months)		Element #	Name					×								
16 Total OM Units in Element	80		Total AH Units		Please en	ter a descriptive na	me for	this Flement		~									
17 OM Sales Rate (units/mth)		% of total units	Units remaining		You will b	be able to edit the	name su	ibsequently.		- un									
18 First month of sales	3.33	4.2%	77	AH Saler						Cancel									
19 Mths 2 to 6 (per mth)	3.33	20.8%	60	per Mi															
20 Mths 7 to 12 (per mth)	3.33	25.0%	40		1														
21 Post mth 12 (per mth)	3.33	25.0%		-	-		_												
22 Total OM Sales Period	24	AH	Delivery Period		24														
23 Calculated Build Period	24		AH Build Period		24														
24																			
25 Notes:																			
26																			
27														0					
28																			
29																			
30																			
31																			
32	-		-																
Quick Guide Project	SUL	tesi Overview	Kesi 1 Resi 2	Land	COSIS	Apprasal C	astitiow	ACGS							4				

Figure 11: Resi Element

- 1.42. <u>The first task</u> you will need to complete in this sheet is to <u>decide whether</u> <u>the gross internal area of the building(s) in this element</u>, for build cost purposes, is the same as gross internal sales area.
- 1.43. For most standard house types the answer will be 'yes' hence the default setting of 100% in Cell B8.
- 1.44. However, in the case of a block of flats, the aggregate sales area (of all the individual flats) will usually be less than the total gross internal area of the building, including circulation space (stairs and lobbies) and other common parts. In such a case, the entry into Cell B8 must be changed to show the percentage that the total sales area represents as a proportion of the total area of the building.
- 1.45. For example, if the measurement of circulation space and common areas amounts to 15% of the whole building, leaving 85% as the total gross internal area of individual flats (the total sales area), enter '85' in Cell B8. The Build GIA in Cell A10 will change accordingly.
- 1.46. <u>The second task</u> you will need to complete in this sheet is to <u>decide the</u>

build cost. You will need to enter either:

- A build cost rate (in £ per sqm) in Cell B10; or
- A total build cost for the element in Cell B12.
- 1.47. If you choose the latter, the DVM will show you what that represents as a rate per sqm in Cell B10.
- 1.48. The entries in these two cells are interchangeable. If you want to round the total build cost after the DVM has calculated it from a rate per sqm, enter your preferred total figure in D10. The DVM will automatically recalculate the rate per sqm accordingly.
- 1.49. <u>Please also note</u>, build costs in this context is what is commonly referred to as 'plot costs', i.e. the basic cost of constructing a dwelling, including normal foundations/ substructure and superstructure, and including site prelims and a main contractor's allowance for overheads and profit. It does not include any other development costs, such as those associated with external site works, estate roads, sewers or landscaping, nor does it include any allowance for fees or contingencies.
- 1.50. <u>Costs associated with extra build costs in Wales</u> (i.e. sprinklers, ULEV, PartL etc.) <u>should not</u> be taken into account in this value. Instead these should be incorporated into the 'cost' worksheet. This will avoid double counting.
- 1.51. **The third task** you will need to complete in the 'resi element' worksheet is to define the build start.
- 1.52. You need to specify the cashflow month in which building work will start for this element in Cell B12.
- 1.53. For example, if the land has been purchased in Month 1 (the standard assumption made by the DVM), you may need to allow a mobilisation period of 2-3 months before it is realistic for housing construction work to begin. The period may be longer if there are significant preparation or

access works to be carried out first.

- 1.54. <u>The fourth task</u> you will need to complete in the 'resi element' worksheet is to <u>define the build period</u> for this particular element.
- 1.55. This may be:
 - Set to a specific number of months (Cell B14); or
 - Defined by the rate at which you expect homes to sell (leaving Cell B14 blank, and using entries in B15 and E15 to calculate the build period see task below).

1.56. <u>The fifth task</u> you will need to complete in this worksheet is to <u>determine</u>. <u>the sales start.</u>

- 1.57. On most housing developments, the aim will be to have the first homes ready for sale/ occupation as soon as is reasonably possible after construction work begins (build start). But the period between build start and sales start will depend on the construction methods being used and the capacity/ efficiency of different developers/ builders.
- 1.58. You will need to specify the month number in which you expect the first dwellings to be occupied (sales start) in Cell B15 so that the DVM can distribute costs and revenue to the Cashflow in an appropriate way.
- 1.59. In the case of a block of flats where construction work must be completed before individual flats can be occupied, you may choose to specify the build period in Cell B14 and accept the calculation that the DVM automatically makes in Cell B15, of a sales start in the month immediately after practical completion of the building work.
- 1.60. In other cases, it may be more appropriate to leave Cell B14 blank, and specify sales start (Cell B15) and sales overhang (Cell E15), from which the DVM will calculate the total build and sales periods on the basis of the sales rates specified in Cells B18-B21.
- 1.61. The sales overhang in Cell E15 is the number of months after all construction work has finished and before you estimate that the final

dwelling will be sold.

- 1.62. <u>The sixth task</u> you will need to complete in the 'resi elements' worksheet is the <u>sales rate</u>.
- 1.63. The sales rate is the rate at which you expect to be able to sell the dwellings on the open market.
- 1.64. By default, the DVM will insert a monthly sales rate in Cells B18 to B21 that it calculates from annual sales rate you have specified in Cell B22 on the 'project' worksheet and the number of open market dwellings in the 'resi element' (see Cell B16 of the 'element' sheet).
- 1.65. This produces a totally linear cashflow, with total revenue being spread equally across each month in the sales period. This may be a reasonable assumption to make but in some cases units will be sold in tranches based on marketing of units.
- 1.66. The user can reflect this type of non-linear sales profile by altering the 'default' figures in Cell B18 to B21.
- 1.67. Always start with Cell B18, moving down one cell at a time to Cell B21. This enables the DVM to recalculate the total sales and build periods in a logical way.
- 1.68. If you decide to alter the default sales rate in Cell B22 of the 'project' worksheet, after you have created the 'resi overview' and 'element' worksheets, you will see the following message:

Figure 12: Warning Message



1.69. This warns you that the DVM will automatically update the sales rate settings

in all resi elements to a linear distribution based on your revised annual rate on the Project sheet.

- 1.70. It will also update the cashflow and appraisal sheets automatically so that you see the impact of that alteration to the annual sales rate straightaway.
- 1.71. If you want to restore any non-linear sales rate settings, you will need to revisit all relevant resi element worksheets to reinstate those, and then use the 'update' button on one of the resi element worksheets to transfer those settings back to the cashflow and into your appraisal.
- 1.72. The 'no' option in the box allows you to cancel your change to B21 on the Project sheet and review any non-linear sales rate settings on individual resi element sheets before deciding best how to proceed.
- **1.73.** You will then need to <u>determine the affordable housing delivery</u>.
- 1.74. A separate programme for the construction and delivery of all affordable dwellings in each resi element is defined by the entry in cell E20. This number can be changed to a whole number between one and the total number of affordable homes in Cell E16.
- 1.75. For cashflow purposes, the DVM will start construction of the affordable units in the same month as construction of the open market units begin s, with delivery/ occupation of the first affordable unit(s) coinciding with the first open market sale/ occupation(s).
- 1.76. To specify an alternative delivery programme for affordable units, you would need to allocate the affordable units to a separate resi element. For example, you can achieve a 'golden brick' approach (i.e. where money for affordable dwellings is paid) through putting appropriate settings for build start, sales start and affordable housing sales rates (Cells B12, B15 and E20) in a separate resi element for affordable units only. (Whether you want to do this will depend on the scale and complexity of the scheme).
- 1.77. <u>The seventh task</u> you will need to complete in the 'resi element' worksheet is cost distribution.

1.78. By default, the DVM will make a linear distribution of the total Build Cost for each Resi Element, i.e. equal monthly amounts throughout the specified build period. This setting can be changed by altering the value in Cell E12.

Figure 13: Cell E12



- 1.79. If the build period for the element is less than 60 months, this can be changed to either:
 - <u>S-curve</u>: This will distribute build costs according to a weighted S-curve, typical of the way in which many builders/ developers and cost consultants would spread total costs in a cashflow forecast; or
 - <u>Custom</u>: This allows the user to specify a customised monthly distribution of build costs. If this option is selected, a table will appear on the right of your screen showing the monthly cost distribution that would be created by the linear and s-curve options and alongside that a blank column for the user to insert monthly figures. A total figure at the head of the Custom column counts down as monthly figures are entered below this.

Figure 14:	Example	of Custom	Spread

Month	Straight I	ine	Weighted S	-curve	Custom Spr	ead £	
N°	£22,600,500	100.0%	£22,600,500	100.0%	£22,600,500	0.0%	
1	£418,528	1.9%	£45,988	0.2%		0.0%	
2	£418,528	1.9%	£89,030	0.4%		0.0%	
3	£418,528	1.9%	£130,400	0.6%		0.0%	
4	£418,528	1.9%	£170,098	0.8%		0.0%	
5	£418,528	1.9%	£208,124	0.9%		0.0%	
6	£418,528	1.9%	£244,478	1.1%		0.0%	
7	£418,528	1.9%	£279,160	1.2%		0.0%	
8	£418,528	1.9%	£312,169	1.4%		0.0%	
9	£418,528	1.9%	£343,506	1.5%		0.0%	
10	£418,528	1.9%	£373,171	1.7%		0.0%	
11	£418,528	1.9%	£401,164	1.8%		0.0%	
12	£418,528	1.9%	£427,485	1.9%		0.0%	
13	£418,528	1.9%	£452,133	2.0%		0.0%	
14	£418,528	1.9%	£475,110	2.1%		0.0%	
15	£418,528	1.9%	£496,414	2.2%		0.0%	
16	£418,528	1.9%	£516,046	2.3%		0.0%	
17	£418,528	1.9%	£534,006	2.4%		0.0%	
18	£418,528	1.9%	£550,293	2.4%		0.0%	
19	£418,528	1.9%	£564,909	2.5%		0.0%	
20	£418,528	1.9%	£577,852	2.6%		0.0%	
21	£418,528	1.9%	£589,123	2.6%		0.0%	
22	£418,528	1.9%	£598,722	2.6%		0.0%	
23	£418,528	1.9%	£606,649	2.7%		0.0%	
24	£418,528	1.9%	£612,904	2.7%		0.0%	
25	£418,528	1.9%	£617,486	2.7%		0.0%	
26	£418,528	1.9%	£620,397	2.7%		0.0%	
27	£418,528	1.9%	£621,635	2.8%		0.0%	
28	£418,528	1.9%	£621,201	2.7%		0.0%	
29	£418,528	1.9%	£619,095	2.7%		0.0%	
30	£418,528	1.9%	£615,316	2.7%		0.0%	
31	£418,528	1.9%	£609,866	2.7%		0.0%	

- 1.80. For the purpose of this viability request, for a simple scheme this can be left as 'linear'.
- 1.81. There is apace at the bottom of the worksheet for you to add any relevant notes, for example, explaining the basis for build cost rates and other settings that you are using.

- 1.82. Once all fields on the 'resi element' worksheet have been completed, you will need to do the same for the next 'resi element' worksheet (unless you have created only one).
- 1.83. You do not need to follow the same assumptions on each Element sheet variations in build cost rate, build cost distribution etc. can be made as this is the main reason for creating the different elements.
- 1.84. Detailed guidance on how to complete the 'resi elements' worksheets is provided in the '<u>resi elements DVM'</u> video on the Council's website.
- 1.85. <u>Once all 'resi element' worksheets have been completed.</u> the information in them needs to be transferred to the DVM cashflow. (Do not do this until all have been completed, otherwise the DVM will not create a valid appraisal).
- 1.86. In order to transfer the information to the DVM cashflow, you will need to click the 'transfer/ update' button at the top of all 'resi element' worksheets. Without this, the DVM will not produce a valid appraisal. (This will also need to be done if you update any of the values subsequently).

Figure 15: Update Button



Figure 16: Example of Cashflow Worksheet

Generate	Total	May 2022	lun 2022
Quarterly CF	TOCAL	1	2011 2022
RESIDENTIAL SALES	£58 636 200		2
Resi 1	7	-	
OM Dwellings	£53,314,000		
AH Units	£5,322,200		
RESIDENTIAL BUILD COSTS Resi 1	(£28,240,875)	1	
OM Dwellings	(£22,600,500)		
AH Units	(£5,640,375)		
TOTAL SITE COSTS	(£5,541,303)		
Land Price/Cost	(£5,174,700)	*******	
Land Transaction Tax (LTT)	(£288,982)	(£288,982)	
Acquistion Fees	(£77,621)	(£77,621)	
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE	(£505,750)		
General Section 106 Costs	(£505,750)		
NORMAL SITE COSTS	(£7,581,306)		
External Site Costs	(£4,236,131)		
Extra Bldg Regs requirements	(£1,589,500)		
Sprinklers	(£888,675)		
SUDS	(£867,000)		
ABNORMAL SITE COSTS	£0		
CONSTRUCTION FEES & CONTINGENO	CY		
Fees on Resi Build Costs	(£2,043,990)		
Fees on other Construction Costs	(£105,341)		
Contingency	(£1,139,145)		
LETTING/SALE FEES & MARKETING	(£1,506,250)		
Agency Commission on OM sales	(£1,332,850)		
Legal Fees on OM Resi Sales	(£130,200)		
Legal Fees on AH Transfers	(£43,200)		

Comm-Inv Element Worksheet

1.87. For commercial schemes, the first worksheets that you will need to complete are the 'comm-inv' element worksheets.

Figure 17: Comm-Inv	Element	Worksheet
---------------------	---------	-----------

Description *		Area m ² *	Rate *	ERV £ pa	FH Values	Area %	Use *	Central	Services Hub	i i
							Comm'l	LPA: Neath Port	Calbot	
								Site Ref: DVM149)	
							FH/Inv *			
							Rent	UPDATE Elemen	t details in Ca	ashflow
								when ALL Con	nm-inv sheet	s are
								completi	ed/amended	
Less: Outgoings	(if applicable)					Costs again	nst Gross Re	nt (if applicable):		
Net Rental Valu	e					Void allow	ance	0.0% or	£0.00 f	£ amoun
Net Investment	Yield *	6.50%	Gros	ss/Total Value		Manageme	ent costs	0.0% or	£0.00 H	£amoun
Less: Purchaser's	s Costs	LTT (est.)				Other outg	oings	0.0% or	£0.00 f	£ amoun
Ag	ents & Legals @	1.80%				(see notes l	pelow)			
		Net Develo	pment/Inve	estment Value						
NB: Fields mark	ed * are manda	tory								
Sales/Rental NIA	VGIA m ²									
Net to Gross Rat	tio *	100.0%		Build GIA m ²						
Enter Build Cost	Rate OR Total B	uild Cost *								
Build Cost Rate (£ per m ²)		T	otal Build Cost						
Build, Lettings &	Sales Timescal	e		Select Build Cos	t Distribution:					
Build Start *	(month n°)	12			Linear			li li l		
Build Period *	(in months)	36				T I Costs (i	f applicable)			
PC date	(month n°)	47		Lettings	detail					
Lettings Start	(month n°)	48	Firs	st month %age	100.0%	this area fo	r calculation	notes		
Sale Date	(month n°)	50	and sp	read (months)	1					
Notes:						-				
Notes.										
					-					
								<u> </u>		
								L		
								TOTAL		
		Contraction in the second s								

- 1.88. These work in the same way as the residential element sheets above.
- 1.89. However, for commercial elements rather than input external costs into this section of the DVM you will need to specify these in Row 20 of each 'comm- inv element' worksheet. Total build cost (Cell E19 on each 'comm-inv' worksheet) will be aggregated with external site costs (Cell E20) on a single row in the 'cashflow' worksheet. The total build cost and external site costs for all 'comm-inv' elements will be shown in Cell G25 of the 'appraisal' worksheet.
- 1.90. External site costs on row 27 of the 'costs' worksheet therefore only relate to the residential element of a scheme. If there are no residential elements in the development, rows 27 and 28 in the 'costs' worksheet will be automatically blanked so that they cannot be used accidentally.

Land Worksheet

1.91. The next worksheet you will need to complete for both residential and commercial schemes is the 'land' worksheet.

943	• 1 × √ ft												
6	A	Б	с	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	к	L	M
SI U	ite Costs - Daffodil Crescent Es PA: City & County of Swansea, Site B: Fields marked * are mandatory	state Ref: SA00000		When all TRANS	entries cor FER Site Co	npleted/ar	nended	?					
T	OTAL SITE COSTS	£1,432,750	No. c	of Tranches*	2		Value		LTT rate				
14	and Price/Cost	£1,350,000			(max 20)	-	up to	£150,000	0%				
1.	and Transaction Tax (LTT)	£59,500	Linked trans	actions			from £150,001 to	£250,000	1%				
		Enter Amount	OR % to hav	e Amount cale	ulated *	1	from £250,001 to	£1,000,000	5%				
A	cquistion Fees *	£20,250	£ Amount	36	1.50%		remainder above	£1,000,000	6%				
5	te Surveys	£3,000	link to T	ranche no. *	1	4							
P	lanning/Promotional Costs		link to T	ranche no. *	1		Acquisition fees wi	Il be calculat	ed at the %	age rate in			
3			link to T	ranche no. *	1	-	E10 or may be over	rwritten with	a lump sur	m in B10.			
1			link to T	ranche no. *	1		Enter any other Sit	e Costs (such	as those in	A11 and			
5			link to T	ranche no. *	1	1	A12) in rows 11 to	17; first repla	cing the he	adings in			
5			link to T	ranche no. *	1		A11 to A13, if they	are not relev	ant.				
7			link to T	ranche no. *	1		DO NOT LEAVE GA	IPS if you do	not use all	rows.			
2													
		60	Land Value difference	No. of Mths before	£44,500	£20,250	£1,414,750	You can spe land transac when you tr	cify whethe tions for L1 ansfer to th	rr to link the IT purposes he Cashflow.			
2	Tranche No.	Value (£) *	Element*	Build Start *	LTT (E)	Acq. Fees	Total Cost						
3	1	£950,000	Resi 1	3	£36,000	£14,250	£1,000,250						
\$	2	£400,000	Resi 2	2	£8,500	£6,000	£414,500						
1													
1													
5													
5													
7													
3													
9													

Figure 18: Land Worksheet

1.92. This worksheet:

- Records the total price to be paid for the development site;
- Calculates the Land Transaction Tax (LTT) that is payable on that price;
- Allows you to add any other costs that may be appropriate to the land purchase, including legal and agents' fees that may be payable' and
- Split the land purchase into tranches, where that is applicable (for example, for large sites, where land may be drawn down as development proceeds in phases).

- 1.93. There are a number of default assumptions that have been built into the DVM. Given that this is a regional model, these will need to be reviewed, taking into consideration your development and the assumptions detailed in the following chapter. Where alternative values are input to those in the following chapter, evidence should be provided to justify these.
- 1.94. By default, the DVM assumes that the whole site will be purchased in one lot and that all the costs shown on the 'Land' worksheet will be incurred in the first month of the development cashflow (i.e. the month you have specified as the Development Start Date in Cell B27 of the 'project' worksheet).
- 1.95. If your site will be purchased in more than one tranche, enter the number of tranches in Cell E6. In such a case additional rows will appear at the bottom of the worksheet (as per Figure 17) asking you to specify the value of each land tranche. The figure in Cell B21 will count down to '£0' as you complete the cells below.
- 1.96. The DVM links each land purchase to the start of one of the resi or comm-inv elements you have specified and asks you to attribute which element each land tranche is connected with (Column C).
- 1.97. It also asks how many months before the Build Start date for that Element the land purchase should be scheduled for in the Cashflow (Column D). The default setting being 3 months.
- 1.98. In some circumstances, separate land transactions may be 'linked' for Land Transaction Tax purposes; such that Land Transaction Tax is assessed on the total consideration in the 'linked' transactions, rather than on the value of each transaction individually. In the DVM you can choose whether these are linked or not. Detailed guidance is provided in the <u>Costs video</u> on the Council's website.
- 1.99. When all entries are completed you will need to click on the 'transfer site costs to cashflow' button at the top of the worksheet as the land price/ sales value and associated costs do not transfer automatically to the cashflow.

Figure 19: Transfer Site Costs to Cashflow Button



1.100. When you click on the above button, if you have specified that the land purchase will take place in more than one tranche/ transaction, the DVM will show you a dialogue box as per below, asking you whether all the transactions are 'linked' for Land Transaction Tax purposes or not.

Figure 20: Linked Transactions



Costs Worksheet

1.101. The next worksheet you will need to complete is the 'cost' worksheet.

e Home Insert Page Layo	ut Formula	s Data	Review	View H	ielp									
									14				1.14	
~ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	D	L	0	t		6	71	1	1	K.	L	. M	N	
osts - Daffodil Crescent Estate														C
PA: City & County of Swansea, Site	eef: 5400000					NB: Build C	osts start	a month 12	and end is	s month 38				
OMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE	£781.250	Total Cil /a	106	F4 464	(dwelling	Linked to:	Month	in month 12 (eun eun i	Notes				L
vimary Education	1218,750	cost o	er dwelling	£1.250		Sales	HIGHLIN			mones				
econdary Education	£350,000	cost a	er dwelling	£2,000		Build								
Other Education	£87,500	cost	er dwelling	£500		Single	24							
ctive Travel						Sales								
ighway Measures	£50,000	inserti	ing cost rates p	er dwelling i	Cal E will	Single	.6							
ublic Transport		automatica based on	my calculate the	e total contri duellines so	oution in Col 8,	Sales								
ublic Open Space (POS)	£75,000	Project	summary shee	t; or a lump t	um may be	Single	18							
eisure/Recreation (excl POS)		inserte	ed in Col 8 if th	at is more ap	propriate.	Sales								
iodiversity/Nature Conservation						Sales								
ther Planning Obligations	1					Sales								
						Sales								
						Sales								
						Sales								
						Sales								
			N 13	-		Sales								
IL Residential	ÉŬ		m ¹ @			Build								
IL Retail	£0		m'@			Build								
OL Commercial	ÉÜ		m² @			Build								
Automatica - Non-seat and an Automatica	matters and the	a the second of	-		the subscript									
in Col 6 if that is more appropriate	if so the % or unit	cost will be re	envoyed, but ca	an be entered	again,	Build	Start	Duration						
			ana			Costs	Month	(months)		Notes			-	
ORMAL SITE COSTS	£3,400,250	£203,861	/net acre	£19,430	/dwelling							-	1	
ite Preparation/Clearance	£50,000	E Amount	1000	10.000		Yes								
sternal Site Costs	£2,375,250	E Amount	or %	15.00%	of Build Costs	Yes								
stra Bidg Regs requirements	£525,000	E Amount	OF E	£3,000	per dwelling	Yes				-				
Aajor Internal Roads (if any)	£450,000	E Amount	OF E		per net acre	No 3 15 450		450 Im @	£1,000					
cove Travel Routes	£0	E Amount	OF E		per net acre	Tes								
005	60	E Amount	OFE		per net acre	Tes								
	10	E Amount	OFE		per net acre	Tes								

1.102. The 'costs' worksheet is split into the following six categories:

Community infrastructure:

- 1.103. Within this section you will need to input the assumptions in the subsequent chapter (notably for recreational space, education and where applicable welsh language). For commercial schemes, there are no assumptions. This section can therefore be skipped.
- 1.104. For residential schemes, these values can be entered by either entering an amount per dwelling in Column E (i.e. a rate that will apply to each dwelling) or a single sum in Column B.
- 1.105. Given that the values differ for 1-bed properties and 2+-bed properties, it

may be easier to sum the values separately and add this into the model as a single value.

- 1.106. The cost per dwelling of all the Community Infrastructure is then calculated by the DVM and displayed in Cell E4.
- 1.107. Please note that the DVM User Guide refers to Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) this is not applicable in Neath Port Talbot.
- 1.108. There are spaces in Columns K to O to record the basis for calculations.

Normal Site Costs:

- 1.109. Within this section you will need to specify external site costs, extra building regulation requirements relevant to Wales and SuDS
- 1.110. External site costs refers to works that are associated with all developments, outside the buildings themselves, but within the development site. They include the connection of standard utilities (for example, water, electricity and gas) to a dwelling. As well as foul and surface water drainage services; the provision of access, parking and other hard standings; gardens, boundary fences/ walls between dwelling plots and the site as a whole; general landscaping within the development; and incidental public open space.
- 1.111. For commercial elements rather than input external costs into this section of the DVM you will need to specify these in Row 20 of each 'comm-inv element' worksheet. Total build cost (Cell E19 on each 'comm-inv' worksheet) will be aggregated with external site costs (Cell E20) on a single row in the 'cashflow' worksheet. The total build cost plus external site costs for all 'comm-inv' elements will be shown in Cell G25 of the 'appraisal' worksheet.
- 1.112. External site costs on row 27 of the 'costs' worksheet therefore only relate to the residential element of a scheme. If there are no residential elements in the development, rows 27 and 28 in the 'costs' worksheet will be automatically blanked so that they cannot be used accidentally.
- 1.113. Extra building regulation requirements refer to requirements that are specific

to Wales. These include sprinklers, Part L and ULEV.

- 1.114. SuDS commuted cost assumptions should also be added.
- 1.115. There are a number of default assumptions built into the DVM which can be overwritten.
- 1.116. Guidance is provided in the subsequent chapter with regards to values considered appropriate for this stage of the viability work in NPT. These differ from the default assumptions so will need to be amended. Where alternative values to those in the subsequent chapter are included evidence should be provided to justify these.

Abnormal Site Costs

- 1.117. As stated in the following chapter for the purpose of this viability work it should be assumed that abnormal costs are taken off the value of the land.
- 1.118. Abnormal costs can however be entered into this section.
- 1.119. For both normal and abnormal site costs there is a choice (through a dropdown list in Column G) to link the distribution of those costs in the cashflow to either resi build costs, comm-inv build costs or both (select 'all') if the appraisal concerns a mixed-use development. There is also an option to not link to build costs, to do this select 'no link' in Column G and specify the start month and duration in Columns H and I. For purely residential developments, 'comm-inv' and 'all' options are automatically removed from the dropdown list in Column G. For purely commercial/ investment projects, 'resi' and 'all' options are similarly not available. This presents accidental selection. This also applies to the Grants/ Subsidy section below.

Construction Fees and Contingency

- 1.120. The percentage in Cell E64 is applied to the aggregate of total build costs and site costs. This can be replaced by a single lump cost.
- 1.121. Total fees relating to other construction costs (Cell B66) is based on the percentage in Cell E66 applied to all other Normal and Abnormal

Development Costs in the project.

- 1.122. The contingency sum (Cell B67) is based on the aggregate of all build/ construction costs and fees.
- 1.123. The percentages in Cells E64 to E67 are drawn from the default settings on the 'project' worksheet. These will need to be reviewed to reflect the Viability Assumptions detailed in this Document.

Letting/ Sale Fees and Marketing Costs

- 1.124. The percentages/ costs per dwelling in Column F are drawn from the default settings on the Project Sheet, these will need to be reviewed taking into consideration the Council's Viability Assumptions.
- 1.125. The DVM always links fees recorded on rows 71, 73 and 74 to the timing of revenue from open market and affordable homes in the Cashflow. Marketing/ promotion costs (row 72) are also linked to the revenue from open market sales, by default. But these can be spread linearly over a different period by entering values in Cells H72 and I72. This also applies to commercial/ investment elements of the Project. If you want to change any of the default percentages in Cells F76 to F79, you will need to click the 'update' button on one of the commercial/ investment worksheets in order to register the effect in the cashflow.

Capital Grants/ Subsidy

- 1.126. If grant, or other form of subsidy/ capital sum, is to be received/ inputted. You will need to enter the amount and a description of this.
- 1.127. If grant is to received in instalments you will need to separate it out. There are a number of rows to do this.
- 1.128. Receipts can be linked to build cost, or defined as a payment over a set number of months (using Columns H and I) – for single lump sum payments, enter '1' in Column I and the month in which the payment will be received in Column H. Please also see the linking guidance above.

Appraisal Worksheet

- 1.129. The next worksheet is the 'appraisal' worksheet.
- 1.130. This worksheet summarises the main outputs of the appraisal. It takes into consideration all the assumptions that you have input, takes into account the cashflow to calculate the finance costs and summarises.
- 1.131. The worksheet provides some key performance indicators and allows you to do some 'sensitivity testing' of the Appraisal's results.

	• 1 ×	fx															
	с	D	E	F	G	н	1	3	к	L	м	N	0	P	Q	R	s
	Financial V	/iability	Appreisal - Su	mm	ary					Prin	mary I	Data, KP	I's and Ser	sitivity	Testing		
	an Development Value		Lines (M ²)			14.0754				Total Ohr Value		2 550.000					
۳,	then Market douglas		140		11,125,000	68.75				Net Developable Step		16.68	Sec.		6.75	heriorer	
13	Mondahia Manalar	10.04	35	12	3,085,795	4.7%				the Value fac and the		*****	ber net sere		1222.224	they not be	
ŕ	RESIDENTIAL COM	20.010	125	÷	34,414,730	0.776				Absernal /			per res este	-	arr.re	per ret re	
	Commercial Security and Million			12	11,491,160	25.0%				Strategic Site Costs		210.984	ner net arre			our pat he	
f	TOTAL SALES REVENUE			1	45,905,890	Acres .				Development Densities		Same and	and the same			and rear rea	
~	in Bearing (Cost) or Incost!			12	51,747					Residential		10.0	Analticacher		15.0	distant in the	here .
-	TOTAL OF ALL OF			÷	45.877.637	100.05				PRESIDEPRING		1 144 5	even lost hard	n rea	13.3	anan-ar	recre
	TOTAL DESELOTATION REVENUE	804	\$ Jac		43,347,888	autoraria.				Commercial American est PA	of Radio	41.55	Service rest				
	find annulation contri-	16.68	2163 685		2 216 262	8.95				Average Residential Values			1	6	10		605 com
Ξ	un E Planning Costs	10.00	1110,000	1	8,7 88,7 20	0.05				Core Market due/lines		#115 YEA	47.608	1242	140		12.010.00
	new with infrastructure	6400	64.464	1	781 250	1.7%				Affordable - parial rent		4144 844	4775	673	30	67.1%	1 660.00
1	nind infrastructure	riem	10,000		181,230	1.118				Mondahis - intermediate		#110.100	#1.953	#116	15	47.95	1 440.00
1	itemal On-Lite Works	d locit	\$2.857		500,000	1.1%				Antoribeure - Intermediate		1120,170				44.079	1,449,000
T,	Booking Works Provin	Their .	\$3,000	12	100,000	0.85				Lamiltinity Texting Facility							
1	terflectioned from	a/orm	10.005	12	85,000	0.16				Ones Market Musical		1.000	Income statistics	and an and			
	view Construction		10000			0.2.4				Minutable Minutine			Inffractulation in	in single at			
1	helid & faternal Costs	15.00	4107.058		16 735 250	40.8%				Commercial BOV	10	0.005	(all physical)	dential value	-		
1	Colectional Para	Floured	6.005	12	1 124 115	2.48				Maurian Construction		0.000	(here supervised)	ne R comme		Contract 1	1
	meterial/investment Construction		0.0010							Commercial/investment		0.00%	Inon-casidari	tial constru	urtion cost	(and	
1	kilding Costs				9 575 000	20.85				Desical infrastructure	10	0.00%	(abournal &	other norm	and other or	and a	
	hidessional Kees		5.00%	12	478 750	1.05				Community infrastructure	10	0.005	it's and/or a	106 obliga	-	NOT AND	
	Combustion Continency		5.00%	1	1.547.406	3.4%				Construction of the second of			The second of a	101 001 0	100-08 804	ages reng	
	a Lettine & Machetine Costs		2.02.15	1	1,066,850	2.34				Descentary Double on COM		17 824	Iblanded mar	(alia)			
2	ance Costs			12	991.550	2.2%				Percentage Profit on Cost		21.02%	the state state				
1	TOTAL DIVE OPMENT COST			1	37.548.721					Peak Borrowing		8 514 175		inter	est Court	100	months
	To the Devices works Color									Feel English Requirement	- 1	6.503 175	187.04	afore Firms	de Contel	82.00	
			Profit	6	7,977,811	17.4%				Total Equity & borrowing	#1	6,016,300	Profits	on Capital I	Employed	49.8%	
	Surplus/(Vinerfall) in Pro		Shortfall) is Profit £8,172,541		(E104,630) de up of	2.58%	ī			Display Sensiti	ivity 1	ables		nce display stomatically	ed, Sensit y when yo	tivity tables to click the	update
	on open mit hou	sing sales	66,265,000		target return	20.00%				Site Name: Daffodil Crescent	Estate						
	on effordable ho	using cost	\$183,857		target return	6.00%				LPA: City & County of Swanse	a, Site A	ef: 5A0000	0				
	an non-reside	vold laite	\$1,723,874		target return	15.00%				Version: Final Testing							
	is second a larger showed substitute and should not be called over																

Figure 21: Appraisal Worksheet

- 1.132. An indication is given in Column H against all Development Costs in the Appraisal Summary (on the left hand side of the sheet) of what those costs are as a percentage of total development revenue. This, along with the values in Column E, can be useful for benchmarking costs against other development projects.
- 1.133. Target profit margins, which may differ from the default settings in the DVM,

need to be entered in Cells H37 to H39. A formula in Cell G35 calculates whether the actual profit showing from your Appraisal (at Cell G32) is more or less than the target profit.

- 1.134. For the purpose of this viability work, you will either need to ensure that the percentage is either more or if less that you are happy with the proposed percentage of profit. Commentary should be provided to us if this is the case.
- 1.135. <u>It is possible to test the impact of a change to any of the core assumptions</u> in your appraisal using the sensitivity testing facility in the grey-shaded box on the right hand side of the worksheet.
- 1.136. <u>It is also possible to see the impact of a change in the total site value</u>, drawn down from Cell B23 of the 'project' worksheet and reproduced in Cell M5 of the appraisal worksheet. Changing the value in Cell M5 of the 'appraisal' worksheet will automatically revise the outputs in the appraisal summary but only in cases where the user has specified that the site will be purchased in a single transaction. If you have said that the site will be purchased in more than one tranche/ phase, you will need to return to the 'land' worksheet after altering the value in Cell M5 on the 'appraisal' worksheet and review the apportionment of the revised land value between the tranches.
- 1.137. If it is a mixed-use site you will be prompted to accept a pro rata adjustment to both residential and commercial site values, or to return to the 'project' worksheet to make your own adjustment here.
- 1.138. The 'transfer site costs' button at the top of the 'land' worksheet will then need to be used to change the cashflow, which then allows the DVM to update the results on the 'appraisal' worksheet. If you change the total site value in Cell M5 of the 'appraisal' worksheet, the background colour of Cell B23 on the 'project' worksheet will automatically change to green.
- 1.139. <u>The DVM also generates pre-defined sensitivity</u> tables to show the impact on residual profit of a range of incremental variations in the core assumptions (for example, residenital open market values, build costs and land value). These tables are opened by clicking the 'display sensitivity tables' button in the

lower right-hand part of the 'appraisal' worksheet.

Figure 22: Display Sensitivity Tables Button



Figure 23: Sensitivity Tables Worksheet

1.1	В	C	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	M	N	0
Se	ensitivity Table	es - Profit	on GDV										
2	Resi GDV /	Build Costs				v	priotion in Resid	ential Grass Dev	elopment Value				
3	Development P	rofit (£)	-10.00%	-7.00%	-4.00%	-2.00%	-1.00%	0.00%	+1.00%	+2.00%	+4.00%	+7.00%	+10.00%
5		-10.00%	6,409,963	7,442,405	8,474,847	9,163,142	9,507,289	9,851,436	10,195,584	10,539,731	11,228,025	12,260,467	13,292,909
1		-7.00%	5,847,906	6,880,348	7,912,790	8,601,084	8,945,231	9,289,379	9,633,526	9,977,673	10,665,968	11,698,410	12,750,852
		-4.00%	5,285,848	6,318,290	7,350,732	8,039,027	8,385,174	8,727,321	9,071,469	9,415,616	10,103,910	11,136,352	12,168,794
3		-2.00%	4,911,143	5,943,585	6,976,027	7,664,322	8,008,469	8,352,616	8,696,764	9,040,911	9,729,205	10,761,647	11,794,089
1	Uncertaine in	-1.00%	4,723,791	5,756,233	6,788,675	7,476,969	7,821,116	8,165,264	8,509,411	8,853,558	9,541,853	10,574,295	11,606,737
0	ðulid +	0.00%	4,536,438	5,568,880	6,601,522	7,289,617	7,633,764	7,977,911	8,322,059	8,666,206	9,554,500	10,386,942	11,419,384
1	External Costs	+1.00%	4,349,086	5,381,528	6,413,970	7,102,264	7,446,411	7,790,559	8,134,706	8,478,853	9,167,148	10,199,590	11,232,032
2		+2.00%	4,161,733	5,194,175	6,226,617	6,914,912	7,259,059	7,603,206	7,947,354	8,291,501	8,979,795	10,012,237	11,044,679
3		+4.00%	5,787,028	4,819,470	5,851,912	6,540,207	6,884,354	7,228,501	7,572,649	7,916,796	8,605,090	9,637,532	10,669,974
4		+7.00%	3,224,971	4,257,413	5,289,855	5,978,149	6,322,296	6,666,444	7,010,591	7,354,738	8,043,033	9,075,475	10,107,917
5		+10.00%	2,662,915	3,695,355	4,727,797	5,416,092	5,760,239	6,104,586	6,448,534	6,792,681	7,480,975	8,513,417	9,545,859
6						v	oriation in Reside	ential Gross Dev	elopment Value				
7	Profit on GDV [4	-10.00%	-7.00%	-4.00%	-2.00%	-1.00%	0.00%	+1.00%	+2.00%	+4.00%	+7.00%	+10.00%
8		-10.00%	13.96%	16.20%	18.45%	19.95%	20.70%	21.45%	22.20%	22.95%	24.45N	26.70%	28.94%
9		-7.00%	12.73%	14.98%	17.23%	18.73%	19.48%	20.25%	20.98%	21.72%	23.22N	25.47%	27.72%
0		-4.00%	11.51%	13.76%	16.01%	17.50%	18.25%	19.00%	19.75%	20.50%	22.00%	24.25%	26.50%
1		-2.00%	10.69%	12.94%	15.19%	16.69%	17.44%	18.19%	18.94%	19.69%	21.18%	25.43%	25.68%
2	Variation in	-1.00%	10.29%	12.53%	14.78%	16.28%	17.03%	17.78%	18.53%	19.28%	20.78%	23.02%	25.27%
3	Build +	0.00%	9.88%	12.13N	14.37%	15.87%	16.62%	17.37%	18.12%	18.87%	20.37%	22.62%	24.86N
4	External Costs	+1.00%	9.47%	11.72%	13.97%	15.46%	16.21%	16.96%	17.71%	18.46%	19.96%	22,21%	24.46%
5		+2.00%	9.06%	11.31%	13.56%	15.06%	15.81%	16.55%	17.30%	18.05%	19.55%	21.80%	24.05%
6		+4.00%	8.25%	10.49%	12.74%	14.24%	14.99%	15.74%	16.49%	17.24%	18.74%	20.98%	23.23%
7		+7.00%	7.02%	9.27%	11.52%	13.02%	13.77%	14.52%	15.26%	16.01%	17.51%	19.76%	22.01%
8		+10.00%	5.80%	8.05%	10.29%	11.79%	12.54%	13.29%	14.04%	14.79%	16.29%	18.54%	20.78%

- 1.140. The tables on the left hand side of the 'sensitivity' worksheet show changes in profit (also expressed as percentage of gross development value).
- 1.141. The tables on the right hand side of the 'sensitivity' worksheet display profit as a percentage of all development costs.
- 1.142. The range of pre-set variation increments in the Sensitivity Tables can be altered by the user; in any of the cells containing blue text on a yellow background. Corresponding settings in other parts of the Tables will change accordingly.
- 1.143. At the bottom of the 'sensitivity' worksheet are tables that consider the impact

on the percentage profit margin of changes in the percentage of affordable housing (as a proportion of the total number of dwellings in the development); and changes in the percentage spit of affordable homes between social rented and intermediate forms of tenure. This is useful when profit margin for a development is on the borderline of viability, such that a change in the tenure mix (i.e. favouring more intermediate dwellings) will help deliver a viable scheme.

1.144. If you make changes to other parts of your appraisal on other worksheets in the DVM, clicking on the sensitivity tab to open the tables automatically updates the Sensitivity Tables and takes account of the changes made on other worksheets.

Click on the QR code below for further information





Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot Neath Port Talbot Council